

CODE OF REGULATIONS OF EAGLE CHARTER SCHOOLS OF OHIO, INC.

ARTICLE I GENERAL

Section 1. Name.

The name of this Ohio nonprofit corporation shall be Eagle Charter Schools of Ohio, Inc. (the "Corporation").

Section 2. Operation, Objectives, and Guiding Principles.

Subject to all of the terms and conditions set forth in the Corporation's Articles of Incorporation and this Code of Regulations, the Corporation is organized, and shall be operated as a public benefit corporation as defined in §1702.01(P) of the Ohio Revised Code.

a. The Corporation shall engage in lawful activities that directly or indirectly further public or charitable purpose and, upon dissolution, shall distribute its assets to a public benefit corporation, the United States, a state or any political subdivision of a state, or a person that is recognized as exempt from federal income taxation under section 501(c)(3) of the "Internal Revenue Code of 1986," as amended.

b. Unless otherwise specifically set forth in this Code of Regulations:

1. No part of the net earnings of the Corporation shall inure to the benefit of or be distributable to its members, directors, officers, or other private persons, except that the Corporation shall be authorized and empowered to pay reasonable compensation for services rendered by its members, directors or officers or other private persons and to make payments and distributions in furtherance of the purposes set forth in these Articles; and
2. No substantial part of the activities of the Corporation shall be the carrying on of propaganda, or otherwise attempting to influence legislation; and
3. The Corporation shall not participate in, or intervene in (including the publishing or distribution of statements) any political campaign on behalf of or in opposition to any candidate for public office; and
4. No present or former member, or immediate family member of the Board of Directors shall be an owner, employee or consultant of any nonprofit or for profit operator or sponsor of a community school unless at least one year has elapsed since the conclusion of the person's membership; and
5. No loans shall be made by the Corporation to its directors or officers.

Section 3. Location.

The Corporation's headquarters shall be located and maintained in Franklin County, Ohio or such other location as the Board of Directors may determine.

Section 4. Property.

The Corporation may purchase, lease, rent, accept as gifts or contributions, or otherwise receive, acquire and manage real and personal property in furtherance of its purposes.

**ARTICLE II
BOARD OF DIRECTORS**

Section 1. Management.

The Board of Directors shall be the governing body of the Corporation responsible for the management of the affairs of the Corporation in furtherance of its purposes. The Corporation shall have a Board of Directors consisting of no less than five members; all of whom shall be appointed to terms in accordance with Section 3 below.

Section 2. Authority.

Except where otherwise provided in the Ohio Revised Code, the Corporation's Articles of Incorporation, or this Code of Regulations, the full authority of the Corporation shall be vested in and exercised by the Board of Directors. Any authority of the Directors may be delegated to such persons or committees as the Directors so acting may determine, so long as not otherwise prohibited.

Section 3. Election of and Term of Office of Directors.

Each Director shall hold office for a term of three years commencing on the day of the meeting at which the Director was elected and ending on the day of the third annual meeting thereafter or until successor Directors are elected and qualified. The initial Directors terms may be less than three years so as to create staggered terms. Prior to the expiration of each Director's term, the remaining Board of Directors shall appoint, by majority vote, a replacement Director who shall serve a three year term commencing upon the expiration of each initial Director's term. Directors may be reappointed and serve additional terms.

Section 4. Director Vacancies.

a. Except as provided in Section 3 above, the office of any Director shall become vacant upon his or her death, failure to qualify, removal or resignation as a Director. Any Director's office shall likewise become vacant if he or she shall be declared of unsound mind or otherwise incompetent by order of a court having jurisdiction, or if he or she shall be adjudicated as bankrupt or shall make an agreement for the benefit of his or her creditors.

b. A vacancy among the Directors shall be filled by the appointment of a successor Director to serve for the portion of the term remaining. Such appointment shall be made by a vote of the remaining directors, though less than a majority of the whole authorized number of Directors.

Section 5. Qualifications.

All Directors are required to obtain a criminal background check, in compliance with Chapter 3314 of the Ohio Revised Code. A Director may not serve on the Board if he or she has been convicted of, or plead guilty to, a disqualifying offense applicable to his or her position as set forth under Ohio law. At any time during which this Corporation is a community school under the laws of Ohio, no member of

the Board may serve on the governing authority of more than the statutory maximum number of Ohio community schools.

Section 6. Compensation.

Directors may elect to receive compensation pursuant to Ohio Revised Code provisions governing compensation of community school governing authority members. Directors may also be compensated or reimbursed, as authorized and approved by the remaining Directors, for services rendered or expenses incurred in furtherance of the purposes of the Corporation.

Section 7. General Powers of the Board.

The powers of the Corporation shall be exercised, its business and affairs conducted and its property controlled by the Board of Directors, except as otherwise provided in the Articles of Incorporation, amendments thereto, or Chapter 1702 of the Ohio Revised Code.

Section 8. Other Powers.

Without prejudice to the general powers conferred above, the Directors, acting as a Board, shall have the power:

- a. to fix, define and limit the powers and duties of all officers,
- b. to appoint, and at their discretion, with or without cause, to remove, or suspend such subordinate officers, assistants, managers, agents, and employees as the Directors may from time to time deem advisable, and to determine their duties and fix their compensation;
- c. to require any officer, agent, or employee of the Corporation to furnish a bond for faithful performance in such amount and with sureties as the Board may approve;
- d. to designate a depository or depositories of the funds of the Corporation and the officer or officers or other person who shall be authorized to sign notes, checks, drafts, contracts, deeds, mortgages and other instruments on behalf of the Corporation.

**ARTICLE III
MEETINGS**

Section 1. Meetings of the Board.

The Board shall use standard practices of parliamentary procedure.

Annual Meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held each year for the election of officers and for the transaction of any other business which may properly come before the Board.

Regular Meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held at least six times a year (including the Annual Meeting) pursuant to the Ohio Revised Code and at such other times and places as is directed by the Board of Directors.

Special and emergency meetings of the Board may be held at any time upon the call of the Board President or any Director. The person or persons authorized to call special meetings of the Board of Directors may fix a reasonable time and place for holding them.

Except for Special Meetings, written notice of any Board of Directors Meeting shall be communicated to the Directors at least five (5) days prior to such meeting and shall set forth the reasons therefore, which may be for general purposes. Notice of meetings shall be given to the public as required by Ohio law and Board policy.

Section 2. Meetings Held Through Communications Equipment and Action Without a Meeting.

Unless otherwise prohibited by law, meetings of the Board of Directors or any committee of the Board of Directors may be held through communications equipment provided that all persons participating in such meeting can hear and otherwise communicate with each other, and such participation shall constitute presence at such meeting. Unless otherwise prohibited by law, any action which may be taken at any meeting of the Board of Directors, or any committee of the Board of Directors, may be taken without a meeting by unanimous consent of the Directors who are entitled to vote on such action evidenced by a writing or writings signed by all of the members of the Board or of such committee who are entitled to vote on such action, as the case may be. The writing or writings evidencing such action taken without a meeting shall be filed with the Secretary of the Corporation and inserted by the Secretary in the permanent records of the Corporation relating to meetings of the Board or of its committees. The preceding notwithstanding, no meeting may be held through the use of communications equipment and no action without a meeting may be taken at any time during which the Corporation holds a charter as a community school under Chapter 3314 of the Ohio Revised Code or is otherwise subject to Section 121.22 of the Ohio Revised Code.

Section 3. Quorum.

Except as otherwise provided in this Code of Regulations, the minimum number of Directors necessary to constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at any meeting shall be a majority of the Directors entitled to vote who are then in office.

Section 4. Vote of Directors.

All matters submitted to a vote at any meeting at which a quorum is present shall be determined by a majority vote of the members entitled to vote.

Section 5. Executive Session.

So long as the Corporation operates as an Ohio Community School as defined in Ohio Revised Code Section 3314, all meetings shall comply with the legal requirements for Ohio Community Schools. As such, the Board may discuss matters in executive session as permitted by Section 121.22(G) of the Ohio Revised Code as the same may be amended.

ARTICLE IV OFFICERS

Section 1. Election of Officers.

The Board of Directors shall elect as Officers of the Corporation a President, Secretary, and a Treasurer, and may elect such Vice Presidents and assistant officers as the Board from time to time deems appropriate. Each Director shall be entitled to vote only for one (1) person for each office to be elected. An individual may hold more than one (1) office of the Corporation, provided however, that no person shall execute, acknowledge or verify an instrument in more than one capacity. The duties of the Officers shall be as follows:

a. President. The President shall be the active executive officer of the Corporation and shall exercise supervision over the business of the Corporation and over its several officers, subject, however, to the control of the Board of Directors. The President shall preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors. He/She shall have authority to sign all deeds, mortgages, bonds, contracts, notes and other instruments requiring his/her signature; and shall have all the powers and duties prescribed by the General Corporation Act; appoint all committee chairs and committee members; assist in conducting new board member orientation; recruit new board members; act as spokesperson for the organization; periodically consult with board members on their roles and help them assess their performance; and such other duties as from time to time may be assigned to him/her by the Board of Directors.

b. Vice-President. The Vice-President shall perform duties as are conferred upon him/her by these Regulations or as may from time to time be assigned to him/her by the Board of Directors or the President. At the request of the President, or in his/her absence or disability, the Vice-President, designated by the President (or in the absence of such designation, the Vice-President designated by the Board of Directors) shall perform all the duties of the President, and when so acting, shall have the powers and duties of the President.

c. Secretary. The Secretary of the Corporation shall keep minutes of all proceedings of the meetings and shall make proper records of the same which shall be attested to him/her. He/She shall keep such books as may be required by the Board of Directors and file all reports to states, to the Federal government, and to foreign countries. The Secretary shall be required to give notice of meetings of the Directors, and shall perform such other and further duties as may from time to time be assigned to him/her by the Board of Directors or the President. The Secretary shall sign all deeds, mortgages, bonds, contracts, notes and other instruments executed by the Corporation requiring his/her signature. The Board may assign, by way of resolution or contract, the Secretary's recording and notice duties to an employee, contractor, or other individual.

d. Treasurer. The Treasurer shall monitor the financial affairs of the Corporation. So long as the Corporation is operating a community school defined in Chapter 3314 of the Ohio Revised Code, the Board of Directors shall appoint an Assistant Treasurer to act as the corporation's designated Fiscal Officer who shall hold such licenses and receive such training as required by Ohio law.

e. Designated Fiscal Officer. The Board shall have a Designated Fiscal Officer as required by Ohio Law. The Fiscal Officer shall hold the office of Assistant Treasurer. The Fiscal Officer may be an employee or independent contractor hired by the Board. The Fiscal Officer shall have general supervision of all finances; he/she shall receive and have in his/her charge all money, bills, notes, deeds, leases, mortgages and similar property belonging to the Corporation, and shall do with same as may from time to time be required by the Board of Directors. The Fiscal Officer shall not be considered a member of the Board, as that term is used in this Code of Regulations.

The Fiscal Officer shall understand financial accounting for non-profit organizations; manage the Board's review of and action related to the Board's financial responsibilities; work with any management organizations or other service providers as needed to ensure that appropriate financial reports are made available to the Board on a timely basis; work with the board to develop and recommend annual budgets; and review and answer Board members' questions about the annual audit. The Fiscal Officer shall cause to be kept adequate and correct accounts of assets and liabilities, receipts, disbursements, gains, losses, together with such other accounts as may be required, and, upon his/her removal as Fiscal Officer shall turn over to the Board of Directors or a successor Fiscal Officer as directed by the Board, all property, books, papers, and money of the Corporation in his/her control; and he/she shall perform such other duties as from time to time may be assigned to him/her by the Board of Directors.

Section 2. Assistant and Subordinate Officers.

The Board of Directors may appoint such assistant and subordinate officers as it may deem desirable. Each such officer shall hold office during the pleasure of the Board of Directors and perform such duties as the Board of Directors may prescribe.

The Board of Directors may from time to time, authorize any officer, appoint and remove subordinate officers, prescribe their authority and duties, and fix their compensation, if any.

Section 3. Duties of Officers May be Delegated.

In the absence of any officer of the Corporation, or for any other reason, which the Board of Directors may deem sufficient, the Board of Directors may delegate, for the time being, the powers and duties, or any one of them, of such officer to any other officer or to any Director, so long as not otherwise prohibited.

Section 4. Qualifications and Authority of Officers.

The Officers of the Corporation may, but need not, be Directors of the Corporation. Officers of the Corporation shall have such authority as may be specified from time to time by the Directors.

Section 5. Term of Office.

The officers of the Corporation shall hold office for one year. The number of terms of such Officers is not hereby limited.

Section 6. Resignation and Removal.

Any Officer may, by written notice to the Board of Directors, resign at any time. Any Officer may be removed by the Board of Directors without cause at any time.

Section 7. Officer Vacancies.

Vacancies which occur in any office shall be filled by the Board of Directors for the remainder of the vacant term in such manner as said Board, in its discretion, deems appropriate.

ARTICLE V COMMITTEES

The Corporation may have Standing or Special Committees to perform such functions as the Board of Directors may authorize and direct. The chairpersons of such committees shall be selected by the President or the Board from among its members. Committee members shall be appointed by the President or the Board.

ARTICLE VI BOARD POLICIES

Section 1. Nondiscriminatory Policy

The Corporation shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, gender, national origin, pregnancy status, religion, economic status or military status with respect to its rights privileges, programs, activities, and/or in the administration of its educational programs and athletics/extracurricular activities. Specifically, with respect to admissions, it will admit students of any race, creed, color, national or ethnic origin, sex, and handicapping condition. Upon the admission of any handicapped student, the Corporation will comply with all federal and state laws regarding the education of handicapped students.

Section 2. Conflicts of Interest Policy

The Corporation shall adopt a conflicts of interest policy to protect the Corporation's interest when it is contemplating entering into a transaction or arrangement that might benefit the private interest of a Director, Officer, or other interested person. In addition to the ongoing obligation to disclose any conflicts of interest, each member shall annually sign a conflict of interest/disclosure statement.

ARTICLE VII INDEMNIFICATION

Section 1. Indemnification.

The Corporation shall, to the fullest extent not prohibited by applicable law, indemnify each person who, by reason of being or having been a Director or Officer of the Corporation, is named or otherwise becomes or is threatened to be made a party to any action, suit, investigation, proceeding, claim or other matter therein, and the Corporation as deemed proper by the Board of Directors may indemnify any other person, against any and all costs and expenses (including attorney fees, judgments, fines, penalties, amounts paid in settlement, and other disbursements) actually and reasonably incurred by, or imposed upon, such person in connection with any action, suit, investigation, proceeding, claim, or other matter therein, whether civil, criminal, administrative or otherwise in nature, with respect to which such person is named or otherwise becomes or is threatened to be made a party by reason of being or having been a Director, Officer, employee, volunteer, advisor, fiduciary, or other agent of or in a similar capacity with the Corporation.

Each request by or on behalf of any person who is or may be entitled to indemnification for reason other than by being or having been a Director or Officer of the Corporation shall be reviewed by the Board of Directors, and indemnification of such person shall be authorized by said Board only if it is determined by said Board that indemnification is proper in the specific case, and, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Code of Regulations, no person shall be indemnified to the extent, if any,

it is determined by said Board or by written opinion of legal counsel designated by said Board for such purpose that indemnification is contrary to applicable law.

Section 2. Insurance.

The Corporation, to the extent permitted by Chapter 1702 of the Ohio Revised Code, may purchase and maintain insurance or furnish similar protection for or on behalf of any person who is or at any time has been a Director, Officer, employee, or volunteer of the Corporation.

**ARTICLE VIII
CONFLICT WITH ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION**

If, at any time, any provision of this Code of Regulations conflicts with any provision of the Corporation's Articles of Incorporation, the provisions of the Articles of Incorporation shall control, and the portion of this Code of Regulations that conflicts with the Articles of Incorporation shall be void to the extent of the conflict with the Articles of Incorporation.

**ARTICLE IX
DISSOLUTION**

The Corporation may be dissolved by the Board of Directors at any time, provided that upon dissolution the Corporation shall distribute its assets to a public benefit corporation, the United States, a state or any political subdivision of a state, or a person that is recognized as exempt from federal income taxation under section 501(c)(3) of the "Internal Revenue Code of 1986," as amended. Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent permitted by Chapter 1702 of the Revised Code, at any time during which this Corporation is a community school under the laws of Ohio, it shall be subject to R.C. 3314.074.

**ARTICLE X
FISCAL YEAR**

The fiscal year of the Corporation shall commence on July 1 and conclude on June 30 of each year.

Initial Approval and Adoption date: 05/10/21
Date approved and adopted: 07/22/21